
  

 
  

 
  

 

 

 
  
   

 
  

 
   

  

 

 

 
 

 

Downtown Investment Authority 
Hybrid Virtual In-Person Meeting 
Monday July 24th , 2023 8:30AM 

MEMBERS: 
Jim Citrano, Chair Oliver Barakat 
George Saoud, Esq.    Carol Worsham 
Craig Gibbs, Esq. Joshua Garrison 
Braxton Gillam, Esq. 

I. CALL TO ORDER 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

III. COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
A. Form 8B: Voting Conflict Disclosures 
B. June 21st, 2023, Community Redevelopment Agency Meeting Minutes 
C. Resolution 2023-07-02 NB Budget Amendment 2022-2023 
D. Resolution 2023-07-03 Carter Extension 
E. Other Matters to be Added at the Discretion of the Chair 

IV. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
A. June 21st, 2023, Downtown Investment Authority Board MeetingMinutes 
B. Other Matters to be Added at the Discretion of the Chair 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 

VII. CEO INFORMATIONAL BRIEFING 
A. CEO Monthly Update 

VIII. CHAIRMAN REPORT 

IX. ADJOURN 



    
 

 

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
                  

    
 

      
   

        
                   

  
 

     
  

      
   

 
 

   
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
  

 
  

 

      
    
     

                  
                     

   
                      
 

 
       

   

Downtown Investment Authority July 2023 Board Meeting Agenda 

PHYSICAL LOCATION 
117 West Duval Street 
City Hall at St James Building 
1st Floor 
Lynwood Roberts Room 
Jacksonville, Florida 32202 

PLEASE NOTE: The multipurpose room will not be accessible through the Main Street entrance. The Main Street entrance 
will be closed. Please use the Laura Street entrance to enter the building. 

Directions to Multipurpose Room: Upon entering Laura Street entrance to the library, follow directions and signage for 
temperature check, then proceed into the Main Library. Walk counterclockwise around the grand staircase and you will 
see signs for the public elevators. Take the elevator down to level C for Conference Level. Exit the elevator and follow the 
hallway out. Turn left out of the hallway and proceed through glass doors into Conference Center. The Multipurpose Room 
is the first room on the left. 

Visitors are encouraged not to enter City owned public buildings if they have: symptoms of COVID-19, a fever of 100.4 
degrees Fahrenheit or higher, are currently undergoing evaluation for COVID-19 infection, a diagnosis of COVID-19 in the 
prior 10 days or have had close contact with someone infected with COVID-19 during the prior 14 days. Any member of 
the public entering City owned public building may choose to wear a mask inside the building. 

VIRTUAL LOCATION 
Interested persons desiring to attend this meeting virtually can do so via Zoom (including by computer or telephone) 
using the following meeting access information: 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://zoom.us/j/94074017448?pwd=WklzbHNRRCt6cFBqL0M4YkNrMkxrQT09 

Meeting ID: 940 7401 7448 
Passcode: 642945 

One tap mobile 
+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 
+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

Find your local number: https://us02web.zoom.us/u/k5EtIgMnZ 

Only individuals attending the meeting in-person will have an opportunity to provide public comments. Persons who 
cannot attend the meeting in-person, but who wish to submit public comments regarding any matter on the agenda for 
consideration at the meeting, may do so by sending their public comments via electronic mail to 
DIAPublicComments@coj.net prior to the start of the meeting. Public comments received prior to the meeting will not be 
read during the meeting but will instead be forwarded to all DIA Board members for review in advance of the meeting and 
will remain a part of the permanent record for the meeting itself. You are encouraged to submit public comments well in 
advance of the start of the meeting to provide DIA Board members with adequate time to read them in preparation for the 
meeting. 

Please contact Jovial Harper by telephone at (904) 255-5302 or by email at HarperJ@coj.net. If you have any questions 
regarding this notice or if you experience technical difficulties during the meeting. 

https://zoom.us/j/94074017448?pwd=WklzbHNRRCt6cFBqL0M4YkNrMkxrQT09
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/k5EtIgMnZ
mailto:DIAPublicComments@coj.net
mailto:HarperJ@coj.net
mailto:HarperJ@coj.net
mailto:DIAPublicComments@coj.net
https://us02web.zoom.us/u/k5EtIgMnZ
https://zoom.us/j/94074017448?pwd=WklzbHNRRCt6cFBqL0M4YkNrMkxrQT09


   

  
   

    
   

     
                     

                 

    

Downtown Investment Authority July 2023 Board Meeting Agenda 

If you have a disability that requires accommodations to participate in the above Downtown Investment Authority 
meeting, please contact the Disabled Services Division at: (904) 255-5466, TTY-(904) 255-5476, or email your request to 
KaraT@coj.net and we will provide reasonable assistance for you. The Florida Relay Service can be reached at 711. All 
requests must be received no later than 12:00 p.m. on July 21st , 2023. Requests for accommodation received after 12:00 
p.m. on July 21st, may not be met. 

NOTE: If any person decides to appeal any decision made with respect to any matter considered at this meeting, such 
person will need a record of the proceedings, and for such purpose, such person may need to ensure that a verbatim record 
of the proceedings is made, which includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

A recording of this meeting will be available upon request by emailing HarperJ@coj.net after its conclusion. 

mailto:KaraT@coj.net
mailto:HarperJ@coj.net
mailto:HarperJ@coj.net
mailto:KaraT@coj.net


 
 

 
 
 

TAB III.A 
FORM 8B: VOTING CONFLICT DISCLOSURES 



 
  

 

 

TAB III.B. 
JUNE 21ST, 2023 COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING MINUTES 



 

  
 

   

 
 

   
 
 

  
  

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
 

  
  

   
  

 
  

 
 

   
 

    
 

  
 

  
 

  
  

  
 

 
 

     
  

 
    

 
    

 
          

 

Downtown Investment Authority 
Hybrid Meeting 

Wednesday, June 21st, 2023 – 2:00 p.m. 

Community Redevelopment Agency 
DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 

DIA Board Members (BM): Chair; Jim Citrano, Vice Chair; George Saoud, Esq.; Craig Gibbs, Esq.; 
Braxton Gillam, Esq.; Joe Hassan, Joshua Garrison, Oliver Barakat, Craig Gibbs, Esq. (attended virtually), 
Joe Hassan (attended virtually) 

DIA Board Members Excused: Craig Gibbs, Esq., Joe Hassan 

Mayor’s Staff: None. 

Council Members: Matthew Carlucci 

DIA Staff: Lori Boyer, Chief Executive Officer; Guy Parola, Operations Manager; Jovial Harper, 
Administrative Assistant, Susan Kelley, Redevelopment Coordinator (attended virtually), John 
Crescimbeni Contract and Regulatory Compliance Manager (attended virtually) and Ric Anderson, 
Communications and Marketing Specialist. 

Office of General Counsel: John Sawyer, Esq. 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 

Carol Worsham called to order the Downtown Investment Authority Meeting at 2:00 p.m. 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

Bruce Fouraker declined to comment, as the Ford on Bay St. was not on the Agenda. 

III. COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY 

A. FORM 8B: VOTING CONFLICT DISCLOSURES 

None. 

B. MAY 17TH, 2023 COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING 
MINUTES 

Motion: Board Member Gillam moved to approve the minutes 

Seconded: Board Member Garrison seconded the motion 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 



 
   

    
  

 
  

   
     

  
 

 
    

   
    

 
 

   
  

  
   

 
     

  
 

    
  

 
      

 
                

 
   

 
       

         
 

     
 

    
            

       
 

    
      

     
    

 
  

  
   

 
   

    
   

Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA-- Wednesday, June 21st, 2023 
Page 2 of 5 
MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY6-0-0 

C. RESOLUTION 2023-06-02 LAURA STREET TRIO 

Executive Assistant Sherri Webber read into the record a letter on behalf of Matthew Carlucci regarding 
the Laura Street Trio. He is requesting the support of the Board to approve the Resolution to proceed with 
the project. 

CEO Boyer spoke to the specifics of Trio qualifying for Recapture Enhanced Value (REV) grants and 
Downtown Preservation and Revitalization Program (DPRP) grants. The project does not qualify for 
additional incentives under the tiers analysis. Therefore, under the adopted BID strategy the Developer did 
not qualify for additional funding and that request would need to be addressed by City Council. 

The Board was presented with three versions of the Resolution. She explained each version of the 
Resolution. Resolution 2023-06-02 version I, approving the Rev and Downtown Preservation and 
Revitalization grants, version II and version III each declining to approve the Rev and Downtown 
Preservation and Revitalization grants in light of the additional request. 

Board member Gillam is in support of referring this entire request to Council for review and approval and 
made a motion to approve Resolution 2023-06-02, version III. 

Board member Garrison seconded and commented that the project is ‘unique and distinguishable within 
developing Downtown.’ 

Board member Saoud believes that completing this project is a ‘sign of success in downtown Jacksonville.’ 

Board member Citrano is ‘not in favor of the total incentive package.’ He reiterated he is not in favor of 
supporting this Resolution. He also stated he believes it is insufficient private capital coming in to warrant 
the incentive he is requesting. In addition, he asked if the developer is able to obtain financing. 

Board member Barakat inquired why the project does not meet the tiers analysis. He also asked about the 
loan pending that matures in August of 2023, if it is contributing to the capital stack of the development. 

CEO Boyer explained the tiers analysis. The project does not qualify within the tiers guidelines. 

DIA Staff Steve Kelley explained the contributions towards the years table project. When there is a lack of 
capital from the Developer into the project, this is at the root of the disqualifying factors. Mr. Kelley did 
confirm there is a bridge loan. He stated the loan is not a part of the construction cost or the pending debt. 

Board member Barakat reviewed the performance milestones within the Resolution. He moved an 
amendment to the Resolution to reflect the following terms: ‘the developer demonstrates to DIA within 120 
days of entering into the development agreement that they have raised sufficient amount equity and debt 
needed to perform on the development.’ This amendment was seconded by Gillam. 

Board member Gibbs also expressed concerns with the performance milestones as he mentioned at the 
June’s Strategic Implementation Committee. He states if the performance milestones would be revisited, 
he would be in favor. 

Board member Hassan provided his opinion regarding the waiver of the plan guidelines depending on the 
project. In the event the guidelines should be revisited or amended, this should take place ‘across the board’ 
and not on a per project basis. 



 
   

    
 

    
 

    
 

 
    

 
  

 
  

          
       

  
 
 

   
 

 
   

 
 

      
    

 
    

 
   

                      
 

    
 

          
 

 
       

 
   

                      
 

    
 
 

 
 

                      
 

     
 
 
    

Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA-- Wednesday, June 21st, 2023 
Page 3 of 5 

Council Member Carlucci expressed his advocacy for this project. 

Further discussion was made regarding the change in the verbiage in the body of the Resolution version III 
to reflect the word ‘approving’. 

Board member Gillam advised this motion was out of order. 

Board member Saoud withdrew the motion. 

DIA Staff member Steve Kelley requested a change in the Resolution from “the allocation of equity 
substantially falls short of the DPRP program guidelines of the ration of City contribution” to “the 
contribution of capital. He still this is a combination of debt and equity, which is more in line with the 
waiver of guidelines. 

Motion: Board Member Gillam moved to recommend the approval of version III of 
the Resolution 2023-06-02, twice amended. 

Seconded: Board member Saoud seconded the motion. 

Motion: Board member Barakat moved to amend the Resolution to reflect the 
changes in the performance milestone. 

Seconded: Board member Gillam seconded the motion to amend the Resolution. 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

AMENDMENT PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

Motion: Board member Saoud recommended an amendment to the wording of the 
Resolution from “equity” to “capital”. 

Seconded: Board member Garrison second the motion to adjust the verbiage in the 
Resolution. 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

AMENDMENT PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

RESOLUTION 2023-06-02 AS TWICE AMENDED 

Vote: Aye: 5 Nay: 1 Abstain: 0 

MOTION PASSED 5-1-0, Citrano -Nay 



 
   

    
       
 

             
  

  
 

    
    

  
  

 
   

 
   
         

 
   

 
  
           
    

   
 

   
 

          
 

 
  

 
  

    
  
  

  
   

   
    

 
   

 
 
  

   
 

   
 

         
 
 

Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA-- Wednesday, June 21st, 2023 
Page 4 of 5 

D. RESOLTUION 2023-06-03 SOUTHSIDE CRA BUDGET AMENDMENT 

CEO Boyer spoke to the specifics of the Resolution. She spoke to the amended motion from the Finance 
Committee. She provided the amount allocated to The District, Southside Unallocated and Professional 
Services. 

Vice Chair Citrano provided a summary of the recommendations from staff, explaining the change in funds 
in Unallocated and Professional Services. 

Motion: Vice Chair Citrano moved to approve. 

Seconded: Board member Gillam advised second is not required as this came as a 
Committee Motion. 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

E. RESOLUTION 2023-06-04 NORTHBANK CRA BUDGET AMENDMENT 

Motion: Committee Vote Motion to approve 

Seconded: Committee Vote second 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY6-0-0 

D. RESOLUTION 2023-06-05 ONE RIVERSIDE PERFORMANCE SCHEDULE 
AMENDMENT 

CEO Boyer explained the Amendment in the Resolution. The details pertain to the Performance Schedule 
extending the time for the developer to complete improvements. Florida Department of Transportation 
approvals have been given to allow the project to continue. She further explained the Phase I completion 
dates and the deadline to Deliver Put Option Notice. 

Board member Gillam affirmed his support of this project. 

Motion: Committee Vote Motion to approve 

Seconded: Committee Vote second 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 



 
   

    
   

  
   

   
 
 

 
 

   
 
 

Downtown Investment Authority 
CRA-- Wednesday, June 21st, 2023 
Page 5 of 5 
E. OTHER MATTERS TO BE ADDED AT THE DISCRETION OF THE CHAIR 

Bringing no further matters forward, Board Chair Worsham adjourned the Community Redevelopment 
Agency Meeting at 2:53 P.M. 

The written minutes for this meeting are only an overview of what was discussed.  For verbatim 
comments on this meeting, transcripts are available upon request.  Please contact Jovial Harper 
at HarperJ@coj.net to acquire a recording of the meeting. 

mailto:HarperJ@coj.net


 
 

 
 
 

TAB III.E. 
RESOLUTION 2023-07-02 NB BUDGET AMENDMENT 2022-2023 



 
 

  
  
 

 
 

 
  

  
 

   
 

  
  

  
  

 
 
   

   
 

 
  

 

  
  

 
 

    
 

 
 

  
 

  
 

   
 

  
 

 
   

  

RESOLUTION 2023-07-02 

RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 
(“DIA”) ACTING AS THE COMMUNITY REDEVELOMENT AGENCY 
(“CRA”) FOR THE COMBINED NORTHBANK COMMUNITY 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA AUTHORIZING THE LAPSE TO THE 
GENERAL FUND OF $250,000 CURRENTLY APPROPRIATED IN FY 22-
23 AS UNALLAOCATED AND REQUESTING APPROPRIATION TO THE 
DOWNTOWN ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT FUND OF A LIKE 
AMOUNT IN THE ANNUUAL 23-24 BUDGET; INSTRUCTING ITS 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER TO TAKE ALL ACTION NECESSARY TO 
EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSE OF THIS RESOLUTION; PROVIDING 
FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, the Downtown Investment Authority (“DIA”) is the Community 
Redevelopment Agency for the Northbank Community Redevelopment Area pursuant to 
Ordinance 2012-0364; and 

WHEREAS, as the Community Redevelopment Agency, the DIA is responsible for 
developing, approving, and implementing the budget for the Combined North Bank Community 
Redevelopment Area; and 

WHEREAS, the adopted FY 2022-2023 budget for the Combined Northbank has 
approximately $600,000 remaining in Unallocated Plan Authorized Expenditures; and 

WHEREAS, the DIA has determined that programming and enhanced maintenance of 
Downtown parks, while a priority of the DIA, should not be funded from the CRA but rather from 
the Downtown Economic Development Fund when needed; and 

WHEREAS, the  DIA Board has agreed to allow $250,000 of the Northbank FY 22-23 
appropriated budget for Unallocated Plan authorized expenditures to lapse to the General Fund at 
fiscal year-end; and 

WHEREAS, DIA is requesting that City Council appropriate $ 250,000 in the City’s FY 
23-24 budget to the Downtown Economic Development Fund for downtown Parks Programming 
and Maintenance. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Downtown Investment Authority: 

Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 
incorporated herein by this reference. 

Section 2. By approval of this Resolution, the DIA in its capacity as the CRA for the 
Combined Northbank Community Redevelopment Area is authorizing the lapse or transfer of 



 
  

 
  

 
   

  
   

 
   

   
 

   
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 
 
 

                      
     

 
 
 
 
 
 

   

______________________ 

RESOLUTION 2023-07-02 
PAGE 2 OF 2 

$250,000 of FY 22-23 budgeted Unallocated funds to the General Fund at fiscal year-end thereby 
effectuating the following budget transfer: 

From: Unallocated 
Amount: $250,000 
To: General Fund 

Section 3. The CEO is authorized and instructed to take all necessary action to 
effectuate the purpose of this Resolution, including execution of BT forms if necessary. 

Section 4. DIA hereby requests that City Council appropriate $250,000 in the City’s 
FY 23-24 budget to the Downtown Economic Development Fund for downtown Parks 
Programming and Maintenance. 

Section 5. This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the Chair 
of the DIA Board. 

WITNESS: DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

Jim Citrano, Jr. Chair Date 

VOTE: In Favor: _______ Opposed:  _______ Abstained: ______ 



 
 

 
 
 

TAB III.F. 
RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 CARTER EXTENSION 



 

 

 

    

     

    

       

    

  

 

  

    

     

   

 

  

     

        

     

  

 

 

   

  

     

 

 

    

      

  

 

 

   

     

  

 

   

        

  
 

   

 

 

     

 

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 

A RESOLUTION OF THE DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

(“DIA”) AMENDING THE PERFORMANCE SCHEDULE CONTAINED 

WITHIN THAT TERM SHEET BETWEEN THE DIA AND CARTER 

ACQUISITIONS, LLC (“CARTER”) APPROVED VIA RESOLUTION 

2023-02-04; AUTHORIZING THE CEO OF THE DIA TO TAKE ALL 

NECESSARY ACTION TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSES OF THIS 

RESOLUTION; PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

WHEREAS, DIA is the designated Community Redevelopment Agency for the North 

Bank CRA, for which a BID Plan, inclusive of a Community Redevelopment Plan, was adopted 

by Ordinance 2014-560-E and updated pursuant to Ordinance 2022-0372; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Resolution 2023-02-04, approved by the DIA at its March 2023 

Board meeting, amended the Performance Schedule found in the Term Sheet, as approved via 

Resolution 2022-11-07, to allow through the July 2023 DIA Board meeting for Carter to present 

final modifications to the Term Sheet as approved in the disposition of the property as amended; 

and, 

WHEREAS, economic conditions across the region and the country as a whole, including 

inflation in the cost of construction materials, rising interest rates, and increased capitalization 

rates represent a significant unfavorable change since the time of the disposition and approval of 

the proposal in Resolution 2022-01-02, and rapid improvement is not expected; and, 

WHEREAS, the City of Jacksonville is in a period of transition related to a new Mayoral 

administration and City Council whereby priorities impacting limited City resources are currently 

being established; and, 

WHEREAS, Carter continues to work in good faith as demonstrated through open 

communications regarding prospective beneficial changes to the development as originally 

proposed in combination with updated costs and need for additional financial resources not 

currently available in the market; and, 

WHEREAS, to allow additional time for the impact of such conditions external to the 

development to be fully considered, and to capitalize on progress made by the parties in the best 

interest of the City; and 

WHEREAS, the consideration of further extension is brought before the DIA Board to 

authorize modifications to the Term Sheet attached herein as Exhibit A. 

NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of the Downtown Investment Authority: 



       
 

          

 

 

        

      

    

  

  

    

 

 

    

  

    

 

       

    

   

 

      

 

 

 

             

 

 

            

    

 

 

    

_____________________ 

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 2 of 9 

Section 1. The DIA finds that the recitals set forth above are true and correct and are 

incorporated herein by this reference.  

Section 2. The Term Sheet, attached hereto as Exhibit A of this executed Resolution 

2023-07-03, is further amended to establish January 17, 2024, or such other date as may be set for 

the January 2024 DIA Board meeting, as the outside date by which final terms and conditions 

incorporating a finalized development budget, full modifications and changes in scope and design, 

identification of development partners, and any other material modifications shall be presented to 

the DIA Board for full consideration as to whether such proposed modifications may move forward 

under the development rights granted in Resolution 2022-01-02 pursuant to ISP-0287-22 - Notice 

of Disposition, and recognizing that additional property disposition requirements may result from 

such changes. 

Section 4. In the event a revised term sheet is approved at the January 2024 DIA 

meeting, or a new disposition notice issued, all such actions shall limit the time for negotiation of 

development agreements, filing of legislation and ultimate City Council approval and execution 

of the Redevelopment Agreement to an outside date of June 30, 2024. 

Section 5. The DIA hereby authorizes the CEO of the Downtown Investment 

Authority to take all action necessary to effectuate the purposes of this Resolution 2023-07-03, 

including the execution of contracts, agreements, and other documents. 

Section 6. This Resolution shall become effective on the date it is signed by the Chair 

of the DIA Board. 

WITNESS: DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

Jim Citrano, Chair Date 

VOTE: In Favor: ________ Opposed:  _________ Abstained: _______ 



       
 

    

 

      

       

 

            

         

      

        

           

   

       

      

     

 

 

 

 

     
       

          
  

         
 

       
      

  
      

    
      

 
       

 
        

 
   

      
       

 

       

 

        
   

         
     

      

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 3 of 9 

Exhibit A to Resolution 2023-07-03 

Term Sheet 

Developer: Carter Acquisitions, LLC, assignable at closing to affiliated entity controlled by 

Carter, thereafter only with City’s permission until a Certificate of Occupancy 
is issued (“Carter”). 

The Property: City of Jacksonville (“COJ”) to convey to Developer fee simple title to a 2.4+/-

acre parcel of land commonly referred to as the former courthouse site and 

identified by Duval County Tax Parcel 073358 0000 (the “Property”). The 
Property is addressed at 330 Bay Street East, Jacksonville, Florida 32202, and is 

generally located on Bay Street East between Market Street and Liberty Street. 

The Property does not include the current Courthouse Drive right of way, nor 

the additional 30-40 feet of upland contiguous to the right of way, creating an 

approximately 100-foot-wide strip (on average) of City owned land adjacent to 

the bulkhead. The Property is depicted on the sketch attached as Figure 1 and 

subject to final survey. 

Easements and 

temporary interests 

to be conveyed: 

1. Non-exclusive Perpetual Easement for pedestrian and bicycle use over 
Riverwalk parcel for benefit of Developer. A 20’ deep, and no more 
than 100 feet long parallel to the riverfront, encroachment into the 
reserved 100’ City-owned Riverwalk parcel will be allowed for 
dedicated seating as an exclusive use for the restaurant space patio 
area and be located in front of the southern retail façade. 

2. Temporary construction Easement over landward portion of Riverwalk 
parcel not including the 15’ closest to the bulkhead and coordinated 
with construction of Riverwalk and adjacent park. 

3. Temporary construction Easement for lay down during construction 
[parcel north of Hyatt, and riverwalk parcel] limited to the time frame 
necessary to facilitate construction; Riverwalk disruption will be 
minimized to the extent feasible. 

4. Crane air rights, if applicable, and granted by the City over public 
property. 

5. Temporary Road / lane closures without fees except required meter 
bagging charges, if any. 

6. Maintenance easement agreements that would allow Developer to 
step in and maintain the Riverwalk and marina, if not maintained to 
standard and that would allow Developer to maintain the building in 
perpetuity. 

The Project: On the Property developer shall design and construct The Hardwick (the 

“Project”) to include the following: 

1. 332 or more residential units (no fewer than 325 units) including a 
residential tower of no fewer than 18 stories. 

2. A 4 to 6 story pedestal development from Bay Street to the River on 
approximately two-thirds of the parcel along Liberty Street and 
featuring an open courtyard at grade on the other one-third of the 



       
 

  
  

   
    

     
       

         
               

 
 

    
  
     

 
  
       

    
 

 

  

 

     

    

 

  

         
      

 
         

     
     

       
           

       
       

             
      

        
  

       
     

  
    

 
         

      
   

      
 

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 4 of 9 

parcel along Market Street. The outdoor plaza/public space adjacent 
to Market Street will be activated and designed for programmed use. 

3. Strong mid-century modern aesthetic carried throughout design. 
4. Approximately 25,000 square feet of retail space (no less than 24,000) 

including not less than 35% of the Bay Street frontage, including a 
minimum 7,500 square feet of space accommodating up to two (2) 
restaurants facing the marina and not less than 35% of the river 
frontage, and a rooftop (2nd floor or higher, and if on 2nd floor there will 
be a rooftop patio above) bar and/or restaurant of not less than 1,500 
square feet.  

5. Approximately 8,000 square feet of elevated plazas and green spaces. 
6. 120 retail/marina parking spaces.  
7. Tenant Improvements paid by Developer shall total not less than 

$1,600,000. 
8. Furniture, Fixture, and Equipment shall total not less than $600,000. 
9. The Minimum Capital Investment for the Project shall be 

$150,000,000, which shall specifically exclude brokerage fees, FF&E, 
Carry Costs, Financing Costs, Marketing, Developer Fee, Retail TI & LC. 

Compensation Paid 

To DIA/COJ For 

Property Interests & 

Contractual Rights 

Fee simple purchase price for the Property: $4.93 Million 

(Inclusive of the donation to the construction of Riverwalk Parcel of $2.50 

Million) 

DIA to receive participation of 10% over an 18% IRR and 15% over a 25% IRR 

Incentives 1. Contribution of the Property valued at $9,540,000.00 ($80/psf to be 
adjusted based on surveyed parcel size, net contribution of $4.61 
Million) 

2. 75% REV grant for 20 years on the Real Property and Tangible Personal 
Property. The maximum indebtedness shall be calculated based on the 
projected assessed value using agreed upon private capital investment 
construction cost values. Any reduction in actual construction cost that 
is 10% or less of the projected construction cost shall result in a pro 
rata reduction of the maximum indebtedness. The DIA Board may 
approve a reduction in Private Capital Investment greater than 10% but 
no more than 15% with an accompanying pro rata reduction in the Rev 
Grant maximum indebtedness. Any reduction in actual Private Capital 
Investment that is more than 15% of the agreed upon Minimum Private 
Capital Investment shall result in forfeiture of the REV Grant. Based 
upon the project Minimum Private Capital Investment of 
$150,000,000, the Rev Grant maximum indebtedness is $26,770,000. 
The maximum Private Capital Investment eligible for a REV Grant shall 
not exceed $200,000,000. The maximum indebtedness will be 
established prior to City Council approval of the RDA. 

3. A completion grant of $9.60 million paid lump sum upon completion, 
equal to the NPV of $725,000 paid annually for 20 years at a discount 
rate of 4.30%, or the equivalent value to be determined in negotiation 
by DIA staff and the Developer in preparation of the Redevelopment 
Agreement. 



       
 

 

          

        

    

  

  

    

         

     

     

         

      

        

  

          

            

           

      

        

 

           

       

     

       

  

 

 

    

   

      

      

           

         

       

           

  

     

      

          

      

      

 

       

    

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 5 of 9 

The Riverwalk 

Parcel: 

COJ to design and maintain the Riverwalk Parcel. COJ shall commence design 

of the Riverwalk Parcel no later than the conclusion of the due diligence period 

under the RDA, provided the RDA remains in effect. Carter shall be allowed to 

comment on and participate in design progress meetings. Upon completion of 

the Riverwalk Parcel design by the City and arriving at an estimate of probable 

cost for construction, Carter shall have an option, exercisable in Carter’s sole 
discretion within 90 days following delivery of such final design and cost 

estimate, to enter into a Cost Disbursement Agreement and complete the 

improvements on the City’s behalf. If construction is performed by the City, the 
start date shall be no later than one year prior to the Project completion date 

unless access to the site is limited by Carter’s use for temporary construction 
staging. Completion date shall be no later than the completion date of the 

Project, unless commencement is delayed by Carter’s use of the site for 

construction staging but in no event shall completion be more than six months 

following completion of the Project. If the Riverwalk Parcel is not completed 

by the outside completion date, then Carter shall have the right to demand title 

to the 100-foot strip, subject only to a 25’ Riverwalk easement, the City shall 
convey the same to Carter, and Carter may construct such improvements on 

its property as it deems appropriate. 

The Marina COJ to design, construct and maintain the Marina. Marina design shall be under 

contract no later than TBD, and Carter shall be allowed to comment on and 

participate in design progress meetings. Construction of the marina shall 

coincide with construction of the Project with completion of the Marina to be 

no later than the outside date for completion of the Project. 

Redevelopment The Redevelopment Agreement will establish the essential terms of the 

Agreement Purchase and Sale of the Property, the parties’ relationship regarding 
construction, funding and maintenance of the Riverwalk, adjacent park space, 

and marina and the terms of any incentives, the Partnership Agreement with 

respect to use and maintenance of the Riverwalk Parcel, the Developer’s rights 
and responsibilities with respect to design of the Riverwalk Project, the 

Developer’s and other terms relevant to development of the Property. The 
RDA will become effective upon its execution following approval by City 

Council. Its terms will govern the period prior to closing as well as rights and 

responsibilities of the parties throughout the term of the RDA. 

City protections The city’s obligation to close is contingent upon Developer providing 
satisfactory evidence to the City prior to Closing that Developer has obtained 

all permits necessary to commence and proceed without interruption to 

completion of the Project, including vertical permits, and has secured financing 

and equity sufficient to complete vertical construction of the Project in 

accordance with the plans. 

The deed to the Property will contain a Right of Reversion in the event 

Developer fails to commence the Project in accordance with the Performance 



       
 

    

 

   

     

    

    

       

        

          

        

        

           

    

        

 

       

      

   

    

     

         

  

         
  

 
   

          
      

   
       

       
 

           
    

       
     

       
 

        
       

     
      

 

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 6 of 9 

Schedule. The Right of Reversion will terminate upon commencement of 

horizontal construction. 

Upon commencement of vertical construction of the Project, Developer shall 

provide DIA/COJ with a completion guaranty based off a guaranty similar to 

Developer’s guarantee executed with the construction lender subordinate to 
lender’s guaranty or at Developer’s option, a completion bond ensuring 
completion of the Project The completion guaranty in favor of DIA/COJ shall be 

subordinate to any completion guaranty provided to Developer’s lender, if any. 

Due Diligence: Following the execution of the Redevelopment Agreement, Carter will have a 

period of 120 days (“Due Diligence Period”) to inspect and perform tests on the 
Property to determine its suitability for the Project, and to investigate the 

quality and marketability of the title it will receive from the City. Upon notice 

to the City, Carter may terminate the Redevelopment Agreement and the 

Project any time within the period without cause and without incurring any 

obligations under the Redevelopment Agreement. 

Entitlements: The City and the DIA will allocate all required entitlements for the Project, 

including Downtown Development Rights, and will timely process all required 

applications including, without limitation, Conceptual and Final DDRB 

Applications. Mobility Credits will be available to Developer in accordance with 

the terms of the Mobility Fee credit Incentive. Stormwater Credits will be 

available for purchase by Developer in accordance with the ordinance 

governing the same once the quantity of credits required is known.  

Design: a. The design will comply with the Downtown Overlay Standards as 
enacted within the Jacksonville Municipal Code as well as the DDRB’s 
development guidelines, except as may otherwise be approved by the 
DDRB and allowed by code. 

b. The DIA will support a waiver of the View and Access Corridor 
requirement on the site in consideration of the open courtyard and the 
100’ (on average, but in no location less than 95’) setback. 

c. The design of the Project shall be substantially similar to the 
conceptual renderings as presented in the Carter response to ISP-
0287-22. 

d. In collaboration with the City’s Chief Resiliency Officer, the design will 
include resiliency features, including to the extent practicable the 
design recommendations set forth in the 2021 Report by the City 
Council Special Committee on Resiliency and/or other City 
requirements adopted as of design review, consistent with the term of 
the Ground Lease.  

e. A Great Fire themed activity node will be included on the Property 
executed at a scale, durability and appeal complementing other 
activity nodes within the Downtown Area. The node marker shall be 
capable of being lighted at night and visible from other locations along 
the Riverwalk.  



       
 

      
  

        
     

  

  

 

 

   

         

          

  

 

          

      

            

       

     

      

 

        

 

     

   

 

          

       

       

    

 

 

     

            

   

 

         

  

 

       

      

         

        

       

       

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 7 of 9 

f. The design will include access to and features complementing the 
portion of the Riverwalk located adjacent to the Property. 

g. Landscaping of the Riverwalk will comply with the City’s standards, 
Downtown Design Standards, and the Riverwalk Plant Palette within 
the Riverwalk adjacent portion of the Property. 

Permits: Carter will be responsible for obtaining all building and other permits required 

for the Project. 

Performance RDA EXECUTION– The Redevelopment Agreement will be entered into by 

Schedule: Carter, DIA, and the City by the earlier of a) the outside date of June 30, 2024, 

or b) thirty (30) days following the effective date of legislation authorizing the 

disposition and RDA. 

FEE CLOSING - Seller will convey marketable title to the property on an “as is” 
sale basis to be completed within sixty (60) days after the later of: 1) execution 

of the RDA, 2) conclusion of the due diligence period 3) all conditions to Seller’s 
obligation to close have been satisfied. 4) all permits are obtained to permit 

the Developer to commence construction of the Project and proceed without 

interruption to completion, but in no event later than TBD*. 

CONCEPTUAL DESIGN – A completed application shall be submitted to DDRB 

no later than _______TBD*_________ for Conceptual Approval of the project. 

FINAL DESIGN (including final DDRB approval) to be completed no later than 

TBD*. 

INITIAL PERMITTING – Developer shall apply for all permits necessary to 

commence construction and proceed without interruption to completion of 

the Project no later than the earlier of (i) 90 days following Final Design 

Approval or (ii) TBD* and pursue the same with commercially reasonable 

diligence. 

COMMENCE CONSTRUCTION – Developer shall commence construction within 

90 days following issuance of the required permits but in no event later than 

TBD* and proceed without material delay through completion.  

COMPLETION OF CONSTRUCTION - all improvements on the Property to be 

substantially completed no later than TBD*. 

The foregoing deadlines, other than closing, will be subject to extensions of up 

to six (6) months granted by the DIA’s Executive Director and an additional up 
to six (6) months by the DIA Board without additional City approval upon 

reasonable cause shown by Carter, and by force majeure. Such extension of 

the Commencement Date shall also apply to the date of Substantial 

Completion, so that a single extension provided will apply to both 



       
 

         

 

 

      

     

        

                 

           

   

  

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 8 of 9 

simultaneously. The Closing Date may be extended by the DIA CEO but no more 

than 30 days. Failure to close will terminate the agreement. 

*The provisions of this Term Sheet are intended to guide the parties in negotiating the Purchase and Sale 

Agreement, the Redevelopment Agreement and any other documents that may be necessary to give 

effect to the manifest intent of the parties expressed herein. A final Term Sheet including completion of 

all TBD dates in this Exhibit A to Resolution 2023-07-03 shall be heard by the DIA Board not later than its 

January 2024 meeting, and failure to meet such deadline shall result in termination of all rights as initially 

awarded under Resolution 2022-01-02 pursuant to ISP-0287-22 - Notice of Disposition. 



       
 

    

 

 

 
       

 

RESOLUTION 2023-07-03 Page 9 of 9 

Figure 1. - 330 E BAY STREET 

CITY OF JACKSONVILLE, RE# 073358-0000 

Y-428 38-2S-26E 6.119 JAX KNIGHTS MAP WATER LOTS 20,21,22,23, PARKING LOT LYING S THEREOF 
(KNOWN AS WEST LOT) 



 
 

 

TAB IV.A. 
JUNE 21ST, 2023 DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY BOARD MEETING 

MINUTES 



 

  
 

  

 
   

 
  

  
 

   
 

  
 

  
 

   
  

   
 

 
  

 
   

 
   

   
 

  
 

 
 

  
  
         
       

 
  

  
  

   
 

          
 

  
 

 
 

Downtown Investment Authority 
Hybrid Meeting 

Wednesday, May 17th, 2023 – 2:00 p.m. 

Downtown Investment Authority 
DRAFT MEETING MINUTES 

DIA Board Members (BM): Chair; Jim Citrano, Vice Chair; George Saoud, Esq.; Craig Gibbs, Esq.; 
Braxton Gillam, Esq.; Joe Hassan, Joshua Garrison, Oliver Barakat 

DIA Board Members Excused: Craig Gibbs, Esq., Joe Hassan 

Mayor’s Staff: None. 

Council Members: Matthew Carlucci 

DIA Staff: Lori Boyer, Chief Executive Officer; Guy Parola, Operations Manager; Jovial Harper, 
Administrative Assistant, Susan Kelley, Redevelopment Coordinator (attended virtually), John 
Crescimbeni Contract and Regulatory Compliance Manager (attended virtually) and Ric Anderson, 
Communications and Marketing Specialist. 

Office of General Counsel: John Sawyer, Esq. 

I. CALL TO ORDER: 

Board Chair Worsham called to order the Downtown Investment Authority Meeting at 
2:53 p.m. 

II. PUBLIC COMMENTS 

None. 

III. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY 

A. MAY 17TH, 2023 DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY BOARD 
MEETING MINUTES 

Motion: Board Member Gillam. 

Second: Board Member Citrano. 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 



 
   

  
  
   
 

   
  

  
 

          
 

  
 
    
 

    
 

  
        
     
      

   
          
 

  
 
   

 
 

  
  

   
 

          
 

  
 
 

    
 

  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Downtown Investment Authority 
DIA Meeting Minutes – Wednesday, May 17th, 2023 
Page 2 of 3 

B. RESOLUTION 2023-06-01 CEO CONTRACT EXTENSION 

Motion: Committee Approval requires no Board motion to approve. 

Seconded: Committee Approval requires no Board seconding. 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

C. NOMINATING COMMITTEE OFFICERS SLATE 

Board member Gillam provided a synopsis of the Nominating Committee meeting. There was a 
unanimous consensus for the Officers Slate: 

Board Chair: Jim Citrano 
Board Vice Chair: George Saoud 
Board Secretary: Joshua Garrison 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

i. JUNE 15TH, 2023, NOMINATING COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 

Motion: Board Member Gillam. 

Second: Board Member Citrano. 

Vote: Aye: 6 Nay: 0 Abstain: 0 

MOTION PASSED UNANIMOUSLY 6-0-0 

V. OLD BUSINESS 

VI. NEW BUSINESS 



 
   

  
 

  
  
   
 

       
    

  
 

         
   

 
 

   
 

   
 

 
   

   
 

Downtown Investment Authority 
DIA Meeting Minutes – Wednesday, May 17th, 2023 
Page 3 of 3 

VII. CEO INFORMATIONAL BRIEFING 

A. CEO MONTHLY UPDATE 

CEO Boyer initially spoke regarding the Mayoral Transition. Commenting on Downtown Preservation 
and Revitalization Program, she advised there has been a new small business program identified. 
Further explaining the compliance incentive portion of the program, she provided more details of the 
guidelines. 
She provided a PowerPoint presentation of photographs to show progress in the work that has been 
completed in Downtown. She continued into the CEO Monthly updates, providing a timeline for the 
projects that are pending and under construction. 

VII. ADJOURN 

Board Chair Worsham adjourned the Downtown Investment Authority Meeting at 3:27 p.m. 

The written minutes for this meeting are only an overview of what was discussed.  For verbatim 
comments on this meeting, transcripts are available upon request.  Please contact Jovial Harper 
at HarperJ@coj.net to acquire a recording of the meeting. 

mailto:HarperJ@coj.net

	Downtown Investment Authority
	MEMBERS:
	BOARD MEMBERS EXCUSED:
	IV. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY
	V. OLD BUSINESS
	VIII. CHAIRMAN REPORT
	VIRTUAL LOCATION
	Join Zoom Meeting
	Meeting ID: 940 7401 7448

	20230724_DIA Board Meeting Agenda.pdf
	Downtown Investment Authority
	MEMBERS:
	IV. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY
	V. OLD BUSINESS
	VIII. CHAIRMAN REPORT
	VIRTUAL LOCATION
	Join Zoom Meeting
	Meeting ID: 940 7401 7448


	20230724_DIA Board Meeting Agenda.pdf
	Downtown Investment Authority
	MEMBERS:
	IV. DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY
	V. OLD BUSINESS
	VIII. CHAIRMAN REPORT
	VIRTUAL LOCATION
	Join Zoom Meeting
	Meeting ID: 940 7401 7448



	TAB IIIA FORM 8B VOTING CONFLICT DISCLOSURES: 
	TAB IIIB JUNE 21ST 2023 COMMUNITY REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY MEETING MINUTES: 
	TAB IIIE RESOLUTION 20230702 NB BUDGET AMENDMENT 20222023: 
	undefined: 
	Jim Citrano Jr Chair: 
	VOTE In Favor: 
	Opposed: 
	Abstained: 
	undefined_2: 
	TAB IIIF RESOLUTION 20230703 CARTER EXTENSION: 
	undefined_3: 
	Jim Citrano Chair: 
	Date: 
	VOTE In Favor_2: 
	Abstained_2: 
	undefined_4: 
	Developer: 
	The Property: 
	Easements and temporary interests to be conveyed: 
	The Project: 
	Compensation Paid To DIACOJ For Property Interests  Contractual Rights: 
	Incentives: 
	The Riverwalk Parcel: 
	The Marina: 
	Redevelopment Agreement: 
	City protections: 
	Due Diligence: 
	Entitlements: 
	Design: 
	Permits: 
	Carter will be responsible for obtaining all building and other permits required for the Project: 
	Performance Schedule: 
	simultaneously The Closing Date may be extended by the DIA CEO but no more than 30 days Failure to close will terminate the agreement: 
	TAB IVA JUNE 21ST 2023 DOWNTOWN INVESTMENT AUTHORITY BOARD MEETING MINUTES: 


